## If you have issues viewing or accessing this file, please contact us at NCJRS.gov.



110441

Annual Audit Report 1985–1986: Court Disposition Reporting and Processing

December 1986

## NGJRS

.

APR 11 1988

## ACQUISITIONS

Illinois Criminal Justice Information Authority

William Gould, Chairman J. David Coldren, Executive Director

Gerard F. Ramker, Senior Research Analyst John D. Markovic, Research Analyst Karen Albrandt, Research Analyst

## 

,

Printed by authority of the State of Illinois December 1986 Number of copies: 200 Printing order number: 87-49

# **Table of Contents**

4

List of Tables and Figures	iv
Pratace	
Executive Summary	1
Formats of CCH Transcripts	556666
The 1985-1986 CCH Audit         1           Methods         1           Analyses         1           Summary         1	2
Dispositions Referencing More Than Eight Charges       1         Reported Date of Arrest       2         Entry of Dispositions from Custodial Reports       2	5 5 2 5 2 5 9
Significance of Audit	5
Findings and Recommendations 4	7
Illinois Department of State Police Response 4	9
Bibliography	0
Attachments	1

i

# **List of Tables and Figures**

## TABLES

Table 1.	Range of Dates Covered by Disposition Reports That Were Examined	12
Table 2.	Types of Disposition Reports That Were Examined	13
Table 3.	Reports Referencing More Than Eight Charges: Number of Cases Reported Disposed of	16
Table 4.	Disposition Reports Referencing More Than Eight Charges: Breakdown of Offenses	17
Table 5.	Charge Type Defined by Multiple Versus Single Counts of Charges	20
Table 6.	Date of Arrest Reported Versus Date of Arrest Recorded on CCH	24
Table 7.	Comparison of Data Entered From Custodial Reports Versus Data Contained in Disposition Reports	26
Table 8.	Comparison of Data Entered From Reports Indicating Aliases Versus Data Contained in Disposition Reports	30
Table 9.	Summary of Elapsed Times Analyzed From Problematic Reports	34
Table 10	. Time Elapsed Between Date of Arrest and Date Arrest was Entered Into CCH System	36
Table 11	. Time Elapsed Between Date of Final Court Disposition and Date Disposition was Entered Into CCH System	40
Table 12	Time Elapsed Between Date of Final Court Disposition and Date Disposition was Received at DSP	41
Table 13	Time Elapsed Between Date Final Court Disposition was Received at DSP and Date it was Entered Into CCH System	44

## FIGURES

Figure A.	Trend in Manual Rap Sheets Generated	9
Flgure B.	Charge Type Defined by Multiple Versus Single Counts of Charges	21
Figure C.	Dispositions Entered From Custodials: Comparison of Reported and Recorded Data Elements	27
Figure D.	Reports Indicating Aliases: Comparison of Reported and Recorded Data Elements	31
Figure E.	Elapsed Time Between Date of Arrest and Date of Final Court Disposition	37
Figure F.	Elapsed Time Between Entry of Arrest and Entry of Final Disposition Into CCH System	38



## ILLINOIS CRIMINAL JUSTICE INFORMATION AUTHORITY

Chicago, Illinois 60606 **120 South Riverside Plaza** (312) 793-8550 RESOLUTION #3 (1986) Annual Audit Report 1985–1986 WHEREAS, the Illinois Criminal Justice Information Authority is responsible for conducting annual and periodic audits of the procedures, policies, and practices of the State central repositories for criminal history record information; and WHEREAS, the Computerized Criminal History (CCH) System maintained by the Illinois Department of State Police has been examined by the Authority for compliance with federal and State laws with respect to disposition reporting, accuracy and completeness; and WHEREAS, the Department of State Police has reviewed the Audit Report and has prepared a formal response for incorporation in the Report: THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED that the 1985-1986 Annual Audit Report is hereby adopted by the Authority and shall be released by the Chairman in accordance with the Authority's rules and regulations. ADOPTED by the Illinois Criminal Justice Information Authority this 26th day of September, 1986. Ralling School Chairman (Motion to adopt introduced by Adams County Sheriff, Robert E. Nall. Seconded by Cook County State's Attorney, Richard M. Daley. Motion passed by unanimous, roll call vote, Director of State Police James B. Zagel abstaining, 7-0-1.)

WILLIAM GOULD Chairman

JAMES A. SPROWL Vice-Chairman

KENNETH R. BOYLE Director, State's Attorneys Appellate Service Commission

RICHARD M. DALEY Cook County State's Attorney

> RICHARD J. ELROD Cook County Sheriff

FRED L. FOREMAN Lake County State's Attorney

> NEIL F. HARTIGAN Illinois Attorney General

> > DONALD HUBERT Attorney-at-Law

CAROLYN H. KRAUSE Mayor, Village of Mt. Prospect

> MICHAEL P. LANE Director of Corrections

ROBERT E. NALL Adams County Sheriff

FRED RICE Chicago Police Superintendent

> DAN K. WEBB Attorney-at-Law

JAMES B. ZAGEL Director of State Police

J. DAVID COLDREN Executive Director



## ILLINOIS CRIMINAL JUSTICE INFORMATION AUTHORITY

120 South Riverside Plaza

Chicago, Illinois 60606

(312) 793-8550

### CERTIFICATION

The Illinois Criminal Justice Information Authority hereby certifies that the criminal history record-keeping procedures and practices of the Illinois Department of State Police have been tested to ensure compliance with federal and state privacy and security laws and regulations. During the course of the examination, consideration has been given to the reporting and processing of court dispositions. The Authority's examination was conducted on a test basis and, as such, cannot ensure discovery of all types of irregularities.

Attached hereto is the full report of the Authority, including its findings and recommendations for 1985-1986.

Willian your

William Gould Chairman

Dated: Nov. 11, 1986

## **Preface**

This audit report by the Illinois Criminal Justice Information Authority has been reviewed by the Illinois Department of State Police (DSP) according to procedures established by the Authority's Operations and Audits Committee.

All findings and recommendations contained in the report have been discussed by representatives of DSP and Authority staff. DSP has had an opportunity to respond to the report both in the public forum afforded by the Authority's Operations and Audits Committee and in the attached formal written response. Therefore the findings and recommendations presented in this report represent the product of dialogue with DSP and are not the sole viewpoint of the Illinois Criminal Justice Information Authority.

The Authority acknowledges the contribution of DSP's Bureau of Data Processing and Bureau of Identification to the success of this audit.

## **Executive Summary**

This report summarizes the findings of the fifth audit of the Computerized Criminal History system (CCH), the state's central repository for criminal history record information maintained by the Illinois Lepartment of State Police (DSP). The Illinois Criminal Justice Information Authority conducts these audits under the state requirement that the Authority "act as the sole, official criminal justice body in Illinois to conduct annual and periodic audits of the procedures, policies, and practices of the Illinois central repositories for criminal history record information."

In general, the purposes of these audits are to ensure that the state repository complies with federal and state laws regarding the privacy and security of criminal history record information, and to ensure that procedures are established to identify and correct errors promptly.

The issues raised in Authority audits must be considered in the context of total CCH program operations in DSP, both historically and in terms of current activities.

Significant progress has been made in CCH operations during the last several years. Serious backlogs of reported criminal events have been eliminated, for example, resulting in reduced processing times. A new name search routine, file structures, and a reduction in duplicative reporting of Illinois Vehicle Code violations also attest to this progress. Additionally, a new microfilming program has been implemented with assistance provided through the Authority's Office of Federal Assistance Programs. This program will achieve three important goals:

- Provide secure, off-site storage of records;
- Correct errors that have occurred during the past 50 years in processing and using the vast volume of records; and
- Establish new procedures and file structures to significantly reduce errors and their impact upon local agencies.

It is also important to place these audit findings in context of the vast amount of criminal history record information processed by DSP in its operation of the CCH system. During 1985, for example, a total of 189,404 arrest fingerprint cards were received at DSP's Bureau of Identification (BOI). This represented an average of more tha 15,000 cards per month. Additionally, a total of 16,179 custodial fingerprints, or about 1,300 per month, were received for processing. Applicant fingerprint cards totaled more than 24,000 for the year or about 2,000 per month. In sum, DSP received 229,771 fingerprint cards in 1985, or nearly 20,000 per month.

Similarly, each month the bureau performed about 8,000 fingerprint classifications and searches, retrieved and filed more than 15,000 file jackets, and sent almost 20,000 responses to users on a monthly basis during 1985. The volume of information transmitted to and from DSP is indicative of the critical role the CCH system plays in the state criminal justice system.

Illinois' current CCH system is under an intensive analysis and evaluation by DSP. The Authority has assisted DSP in these activities both in the issuance of its audit report recommendations and in providing consultative support during the course of redesign efforts.

1

Despite the progress made by DSP in the operation of the computerized criminal history system, some aspects of it remain troublesome. Past estimates place the number of arrest events with no final court disposition information ("missing dispositions") at about 50 percent. Consequently, the audit this year focused on court disposition reporting and the process through which this reported information is entered into the CCH system.

In broad terms, the goal of this audit was to learn more about the problem of "missing" dispositions and to assess the extent to which this serious problem may be a function of CCH computer system deficiencies or a function of reporting problems by local agencies.

Past audits have touched on this issue to a certain extent. And, while the Authority has already advised DSP during the redesign process of its position on a number of concerns addressed in the present audit, this report analytically demonstrates and documents the need for revisions to the current CCH system. Most important, this report also provides a series of benchmark statistics with which the Authority can better evaluate the new and improved CCH system after its implementation.

Current disposition processing at DSP works in the following manner. Reports are initially processed at facilities in Springfield. If "problems" with individual disposition reports are encountered during attempted data entry, however, the problematic reports are poxed and eventually forwarded to the Joliet facility, where an attempt is made to "solve" the problems and enter the dispositional data.

Our analyses of disposition reporting and processing were conducted with the reports on hand at the Springfield facility in October 1985. The inventory of problematic disposition reports totaled 11,660 individual reports.<sup>1</sup> The reports were grouped into five subsets of specific problems by DSP personnel in Springfield:

- 1. Dispositions reporting second dispositions of terms of probation, including violations and dismissals, and dispositions reporting dismissals of terms of court supervision and certain probations (4,638; 40 percent).
- 2. Dispositions indicating a date of arrest that was different from the date on the CCH system associated with the reported arrest document (1,148; 10 percent).
- 3. Dispositions reporting information on more than eight charges (604; 5 percent).
- 4. Dispositions reporting information that did not agree with disposition information on the CCH system entered from a custodial fingerprint card (3,885; 33 percent).
- 5. Dispositions reporting various aliases, such as name or date of birth, which had to be entered at the Joliet facility (1,385; 12 percent).

The audit staff drew a stratified sample of these problematic disposition reports for further study. Our analyses of these reports and the methods employed to process them revealed several important findings:

• The current CCH system is not equipped to handle the variety of disposition outcomes that are encountered in routine criminal justice processing. In instances where there is more than one disposition resulting from a given charge or set of charges, CCH cannot adequately capture the second disposition. Of significance is the fact that the method used by DSP to modify the initial disposition to include information about the second or

Illinois Criminal Justice Information Authority

2

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>It should be noted that these disposition reports do not represent <u>all</u> dispositions missing from the CCH system. In fact, these \*1,660 reports were simply those "problematic" dispositions on hand in the Springfield DSP facility when we requested them for data analysis.

subsequent disposition is not satisfactory because such dispositions cannot be easily interpreted by criminal justice personnel and consequently are not adequate for decision making.

- The current CCH system does not allow for the entry of criminal history record information relating to more than eight charges. DSP developed a procedure for handling this computer design shortcoming, but it is inadequate and does not appear to be implemented in a uniform or consistent manner. In some cases in which there was information in the report dealing with more than eight charges, no dispositional information was entered on CCH. In other cases, some charges were omitted from entry. In still other cases, DSP created additional arrest segments to capture the extra charge information. What is significant is that these methods have the effect of inflating the number of arrests and missing dispositions on the CCH system and, more important, compromise the utility of CCH as a decision-making tool.
- In situations where the disposition report indicated an arrest date that did not match the arrest date indicated on the corresponding CCH arrest segment, the report was not entered on CCH. There appeared to be no rationale for precluding the entry of these events since DSP routinely enters information from disposition reports in which no arrest date is indicated. Furthermore, based on information indicated on the disposition reports (court case number and the charge citations), it was evident that the dispositions could have been reliably linked to the arrest segment.
- The policy of entering the available disposition information from the custodial fingerprint cards, rather than from the disposition report itself, caused inaccurate and incomplete disposition information to be posted to CCH. Again, this policy compromises the utility of CCH as a decision-making tool.
- Disposition reports that were forwarded from Springfield to Joliet because of the need to enter alias name or date of birth were generally not problematic. An examination of data elements on the disposition reports indicated that they generally matched the corresponding information on CCH. However, in approximately one-fifth of the CCH entries the information about sentence type and sentence term did not fully reflect what was indicated on the disposition report.
- An analysis of processing time confirmed findings of previous audits that <u>arrest</u> information is generally reported to DSP in a timely manner and that DSP, in turn, is posting this information to CCH within a relatively short time period, on average. On the other hand, the processing of <u>disposition</u> information is more problematic. A considerable portion of disposition reports are missing. Given the findings of this and previous audits, deficiencies in processing of dispositional information are further aggravated by the fact that manual disposition reporting is not done uniformly in Illinois, and that certain systematic constraints of the current CCH system act to delay the timely processing of disposition information at DSP.

## Background

## Introduction

This report summarizes the findings of the fifth audit of the state central repository for criminal history record information maintained by the Illinois Department of State Police (DSP).<sup>2</sup> The Illinois Criminal Justice Information Authority conducts these audits pursuant to the statutory requirement that the Authority "act as the sole, official criminal justice body in Illinois to conduct annual and periodic audits of the procedures, policies, and practices of the Illinois central repositories for criminal history record information."<sup>3</sup> In general, the purposes of these audits are to ensure that the state repository complies with federal and state laws regarding the privacy and security of criminal history record information, and to ensure that procedures are established to identify and correct errors promptly.

llinois' current computerized criminal history (CCH) system is under an intensive analysis and evaluation by DSP. This audit was designed and implemented with the intent of benefiting these efforts as well as laying the groundwork for future audits of the "new" CCH system.

## The Illinois CCH System

The Criminal Identification and Investigation Act of 1931 designated DSP as the central repository and custodian of crime statistics for the state.<sup>4</sup> By statute, all policing bodies in the state are required to furnish daily to DSP copies of fingerprints of individuals arrested for felonies and most misdemeanors. Subsequent legislation<sup>5</sup> requires that other case information be supplied by state's attorneys, circuit court clerks, and local correctional agencies.

The CCH transcript (rap sheet) is meant to be a cumulative record of an individual's activities within the criminal justice system. By law, however, only felony charges and serious misdemeanors are required to be reported.<sup>6</sup> The rap sheet also contains identification information, such as race, date of birth, physical descriptors, and fingerprint classification.

Criminal history record information is available to any criminal justice agency, anywhere in the state, for use in day-to-day decisions about processing persons through the system. For example:

- State's attorneys rely on rap sheets in deciding how to approach a case, and what charges to file in light of a defendant's criminal history. For example, theft of a firearm could be filed as a Class 3 felony instead of a Class 4 felony if it is a second or subsequent offense.<sup>7</sup>
- Judges rely on rap sheets in setting bond for defendants and in deciding which defendants not to release prior to final disposition in a case. They also use rap sheet information in sentencing convicted offenders.

Illinois Criminal Justice Information Authority

5

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>Additionally, in 1982, the Office of the Auditor General, State of Illinois, published an audit of the CCH system (see bibliography).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>Illinois Revised Statutes, Chapter 38-210-7(i)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>Illinois Revised Statutes, Chapter 38-206 et seq.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>Illinois Revised Statutes, Chapter 38-206-2.1 et seq.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup>Illinois Revised Statutes, Chapter 38-206-5, 206-2.1 et seq.

<sup>7</sup>Illinois Revised Statutes, Chapter 38-16-1(e),(2)

- Probation and other community correctional agencies rely on rap sheet information to formulate treatment programs and to determine appropriate levels of supervision.
- Correctional officials need to classify persons remanded to their custody as to appropriate security placement for housing, work assignments, and so on. Knowledge of prior criminal history is considered essential in making these decisions.

The timeliness, accuracy and completeness of CCH information are of utmost importance if these and other decisions are to be supported.

## Initiation of a CCH Record

A criminal history record is initiated when an arresting agency submits an arrest fingerprint card to DSP's Bureau of Identification (BOI). All subsequent activity on that case (prosecution, court disposition, and incarceration, for example) is then reported by the agency responsible for each action, and posted in sequence on the rap sheet. Time limits have been set by law within which each agency is to report dispositions<sup>8</sup> and, furthermore, within which DSP is to enter the reported information on the system.<sup>9</sup>

## Formats of CCH Transcripts

Presently, CCH information is available in several formats, which vary in detail and speed of accessibility by other agencies. They are:

#### "CCH Complete" Records

When all information about a case has been reported to DSP and has been completely entered onto the CCH database, a summary record is available via the Law Enforcement Agencies Data System (LEADS) network of computer terminals. This response contains identifying information as well as a summarized count of arrests and convictions by charge. It is the most timely format of CCH, although it is not very detailed. Law enforcement personnel rely on these summary responses when making immediate decisions in the field. In addition, agencies can request from BOI a "hard copy" transcript of all record information entered on the CCH database. This transcript will be electronically transmitted via telefacsimile equipment<sup>10</sup> or mailed. DSP refers to records that are completely recorded on the CCH database as "CCH complete" records.

#### "CCH Incomplete" Records

A majority of criminal history records maintained at the BOI are not completely automated, however. According to DSP officials, about half of the approximately 2 million records on the system are termed "CCH incomplete." These records are defined as computerized records that do not contain <u>all</u> information from an individual's manual file. These include

- Records that have not experienced arrest activity since 1976;
- Records for which the quality of fingerprints submitted precluded positive classification;

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup>Illinois Revised Statutes, Chapter 38-206-2.1 et seq.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup>28 Code of Federal Regulations, Section 20 et seq.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup>With assistance from the Authority, the Cook County State's Attorney's Office has established a "war room" that receives CCH records directly from DSP via a high-speed line printer. This criminal justice information war room provides criminal history records to the assistant state's attorneys for bond hearings in a more timely fashion than was previously available.

- Records where some problem exists that does not allow additional information to be posted (due to system constraints or problems with the source documents);
- Records that have experienced some activity since 1976, but for a number of reasons have not been entered on CCH.

Inquiries made via the LEADS network for "CCH incomplete" records result in a message stating that no automated record exists, but that criminal history information is available in a manual record file. Thus a law enforcement officer must make an additional request to obtain the desired information. BOI staff retrieve the source records and then manually type and transmit a response. Under special circumstances, the record will be immediately entered on the CCH system for faster dissemination. Manual rap sheets can also be transmitted to an inquiring agency through telefacsimile equipment.

Manual construction and transmission of "CCH incomplete" records result in less timely access to that information, and repeated requests for the same information result in a burden on staff workload at BOI. Perhaps the most serious drawback to producing manual rap sheets is in the case of serious, repeat offenders. Criminal justice decision makers, in their dealings with such offenders, should be able to take advantage of the timely access of "CCH complete" records rather than being forced to rely on "incomplete" criminal records that involve inherent delays.

As Figure A illustrates, the number of manual rap sheets generated by DSP has decreased since 1982. During 1985 a total of 4,494 of these criminal histories were disseminated.

In summary, automated rap sheets contain detailed information on arrest and dispositional events available from BOI sources. Manual records, on the other hand, are neither as detailed nor as timely as automated transcripts.<sup>11</sup>

### Findings of Past CCH Audits

Previous audits have consistently found missing and delinquent dispositions to be a serious problem with the CCH system. The most recent audit (*Illinois Criminal Justice Informa-tion Authority*, 1985), for example, found that approximately 50 percent of a sample of 1,074 police arrest records had no corresponding disposition posted on the CCH database.

Earlier audits found much the same, but revealed that the problem had been even more extensive. The Authority's 1983 audit indicated that 59 percent of the 1.24 million arrest events recorded on CCH at that time had no disposition of any kind.

The audit suggested several factors that could have accounted for at least some of the absent dispositions. The failure of police to report decisions to "release without charging," for example, may have accounted for as many as 30,000 missing dispositions. Second, the failure of state's attorneys to report decisions not to file criminal charges in particular cases could have accounted for as many as 75,000 missing dispositions.

Similarly, a 1982 audit conducted by the Illinois auditor general found that a significant proportion of arrests then posted to CCH lacked dispositions. The audit also indicated that many of these missing dispositions were caused by a backlog in posting dispositions to the CCH system rather than by the failure of local agencies to report information to DSP.

These past audits document the persistence of the problem of missing dispositions. The most recent figure of 50 percent, though lower than previous rates, is unacceptably high and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup>Examples of these transcripts are contained in the attachments to this audit report.

compromises the integrity of CCH as a decision-making tool in day-to-day criminal justice decisions.

While several of the past audits have touched briefly on various factors that may account for, or contribute to, missing disposition information on CCH, no audit to date has focused exclusively on the reporting and processing of this information. Without a better understand-ing of disposition reporting, meaningful remedial measures cannot be suggested. This audit report is aimed at increasing this understanding.



# The 1985–1986 CCH Audit

## Methods

This audit focused on court disposition reporting and the process through which this reported information is entered into the CCH system. In broad terms, the goal of our study was to learn more about the problem of "missing" dispositions and to assess the extent to which this serious problem may be a function of CCH computer system deficiencies or of reporting problems at the local level.

Current disposition processing at the Department of State Police (DSP) calls for the reports to be initially processed at facilities in Springfield. If "problems" with individual disposition reports are encountered during attempted data entry, the problematic reports are boxed and eventually forwarded to DSP's Joliet facility for resolution of the problem and entry of the data (if this can be accomplished).

Unfortunately, the collection and forwarding of these problematic reports are not carried out in any regular or systematic fashion. The reports are simply set aside until it is determined that their volume warrants transportation to the Joliet facility. Therefore it was not possible to accurately determine monthly or even yearly rates of specific reporting or processing problems.

Despite this shortcoming, the audit team decided to conduct an analysis of disposition reporting and processing by examining samples of these problematic reports. We requested that the inventory of reports on hand in October 1985 be forwarded to the Joliet facility, where we drew samples and conducted our study.

Initial analyses revealed that the number of disposition reports set aside as problematic at that time totaled 11,660 individual disposition reports. Table 1 shows that these reports cover an extremely wide time period in terms of dates of final court disposition, arrest dates, and dates the reports were received at DSP. This wide range of dates clearly indicates the irregular manner in which the reports are received and processed at Springfield facilities.

DSP personnel in Springfield grouped the reports into five subsets of specific problems:

- 1. Those dispositions reporting second dispositions of terms of probation including violations and dismissals, and those dispositions reporting dismissals of terms of court supervision, and certain probations.<sup>12</sup>
- 2. Those dispositions indicating a date of arrest that is different from the date on the CCH system associated with the reported arrest document (arrest DCN).
- 3. Those dispositions reporting information on more than eight charges.
- 4. Those dispositions reporting information that does not agree with disposition information on the CCH system that was entered from a custodial fingerprint card.
- 5. Those dispositions reporting various aliases such as name or date of birth which have to be entered at the Joliet facility.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup>Illinois Revised Statutes, Sections 1410 and 710 probation



Table 1: Range of dates covered by disposition reports that were examined

Table 2 summarizes how the individual categories of reports were broken down and sampled.

## Analyses

Our analyses of these samples of disposition reports were generally exploratory in nature. The first two categories of problematic reports were those from which no disposition information was posted to the CCH system. Basically, the analysis of these reports was almed at finding patterns in terms of the information contained in the reports and examining the computer system or reporting problems that force these reports to be withheld from timely processing.

Two other categories examined were reports from which at least some information was entered or was already on the CCH system. Our analyses of these reports were aimed at looking for discrepancies between the reported information and what was already on (or entered to) the database.

Finally, the audit examined various time periods that elapsed during the processing of criminal history record information at DSP. For many of the reports examined, DSP personnel in Springfield, when initial data entry of the reports was attempted, attached a "transaction log" to the problematic disposition report. The log sheet included, in most instances, the criminal history information already on the CCH system (if any), as well as various system entry dates for the relevant segments of the particular criminal history record. These date logs

allowed the audit team to examine the time elapsed between several dates in CCH processing.

While our sample of records was not statistically representative of all disposition reports processed by DSP, the information gained in these analyses provided invaluable insights into CCH disposition processing and reporting Rather than answering specific questions our audit was a broad assessment of problems that prohibit the timely posting of dispositional information to the current CCH system.

Table 2: Types of disposition reports that were examined

Problematic Report Type	Total Inventoried	Pct. of Total	Number Sampled
Second Dispositions	4,638	39.8	#*
More Than Eight Charges	604	5.2	250
Different Date of Arrest	1,148	9.9	300
Discrepant From Custodial	3,885	33.3	350
Aliases	1,385	11.9	298
Total	11,660		1,198

\*\* Because this category of problematic dispositions was examined in a previous audit, it was not extensively addressed in the present report.

### Summary

In summary, this year's audit of the CCH system was aimed at uncovering as much as possible about disposition reporting and processing. By examining the disposition reports that are routinely rejected for entry into the system and those that are not processed in a timely fashion, the audit team was able to document several problems with current CCH reporting and processing. The findings and recommendations derived from these analyses are particularly important in light of the upcoming implementation of the redesigned CCH system.

# Analysis

## Second or Subsequent Dispositions

Previous audits of the CCH system identified computer system constraints that have caused the first category of problematic disposition reports. The 1982 audit, for example, revealed that the CCH system "did not fully satisfy" all the information requirements of criminal justice processing in Illinois. The report indicated that "CCH is able to store only one disposition per charge," even though there are frequently multiple dispositions of charges.

The Authority's 1984-1985 audit of CCH also pointed out this shortcoming. The report revealed that because of system design flaws, the posting of some disposition information was accomplished in a problematic fashion. The report specified the following:

An example [of this system design problem] is the procedure used to process probation violations where the subject is resentenced to prison. The current programming of the CCH system allows only one disposition to be recorded for each charge. To get around the structural problems of posting this new information on CCH, a practice was adopted to modify the probation sentence to read "Probation and Imprisonment," with the date of modified sentence as the original sentence date, and a new sentence length that reflects the time actually spent on probation plus the new Imprisonment term Thus the original probation sentence term may be lost when a new imprisonment sentence is imposed. The CCH transcript in such a probation violation case will actually read "Imprisonment/Probation," possibly misinforming a judge that the person has already spent time in prison, when in reality, an original probation sentence has just been revoked and a new imprisonment sentence imposed.

The category of problematic dispositions dealing with second or subsequent dispositions in a case accounted for 4,638 (40 percent) of the 11,660 reports inventoried. The CCH system design problem that limits the entry of disposition information to one entry per charge is, obviously, a serious problem with the current system.

#### Summary

As past audits have affirmed, the current CCH system's inability to adequately handle second or subsequent dispositions in criminal cases is a major problem with potentially serious ramifications. This audit, moreover, revealed that of all problematic disposition reports examined, this category was the largest (40 percent) of all problematic dispositions identified. The redesigned CCH system should address this issue and provide some means of capturing and recording this kind of invaluable criminal history record information. Moreover, the implementation of the new system should include the reprocessing of existing problematic reports, so that this information is available on the system.

## **Dispositions Referencing More Than Eight Charges**

Of the 11,660 disposition reports the audit staff examined, 604 (5.2 percent) were problematic because of the number of charges recorded on the reports. The current CCH

system allows criminal history record information to be posted to the database on a maximum of eight charges per arrest. This limited capacity means that local agencies' reports of dispositions (and arrests) that refer to more than eight charges become processing problems for DSP data entry personnel. It also means that the timely entry of information into CCH is stalled in these instances.

The audit team analyzed a sample of 250 of these disposition reports to get a better understanding of the reports. Two basic analyses were performed:

1. An examination of the nature of the reports, including:

- the total number of cases disposed of
- the type and number of charges reported that were disposed of
- the type of final court action
- the type of sentence, if any, imposed

#### 2. An examination of how DSP processes these reports

#### Number of Cases Disposed of

Most of the disposition reports examined contained the disposition of a single court case, although the 250 reports as a whole accounted for dispositions of 825 cases (see Table 3), or an average of more than three cases per disposition report. Forty-six percent (n=114) of the reports contained dispositions of more than one case. Nearly 31 percent of the reports (n=77) indicated four or more cases were disposed of. Ten percent of the reports (n=24) indicated that 10 or more cases were disposed of. One disposition reported that 22 cases were disposed of.

#### <u>Table 3</u>: Reports referencing more than eight charges: number of cases reported disposed of

Number of Cases	Number o	of Dispositi	on Reports
Disposed of	No.	Pct.	Cum. Pct.
1	136	54.4	54.4
2	23	9.2	63.6
3	14	5.6	69.2
3 4	16	6.4	75.6
	9	3.6	79.2
5 6	ģ	3.6	82.8
7	9 9 6	2.4	85.2
8	7	2.8	88.0
9	Ġ	2.4	90.4
10 or More	24	9.6	100.0
Total Reports = 25			
Average per Report = 3.	3		

#### Charges

As might be expected, this sample of disposition reports accounted for a large number of charges and charge counts. The disposition reports examined indicated that 621 different criminal offenses were disposed of (see Table 4), or about two charges per report. These charges ranged in seriousness from disorderly conduct to homicide The dispositions revealed final court action on 3,747 counts of these charges, or about 6 counts per charge. Individual reports, therefore, averaged about 15 charge counts each.

Offense Type	Charges		Charge Cou	Charge Counts	
Homicide Robbery Assault and Battery Sex Offenses Offenses w/Children Armed Violence Kidnaping	20 62 56 38 38 60		77 370 151 197 14 169 237		
TOTAL VIOLENT	277	44.6%	1,215	32.4%	
Burglary Theft Arson Deception Criminal Damage/Trespass	71 70 1 47 41		441 493 1 743 201		
TOTAL PROPERTY	230	37.0%	1,879	50.2%	
Drug Offenses Liquor Violations	17 2		199 2		
TOTAL DRUGS/LIQUOR	19	3.1%	201	5.4%	
Motor Vehicle Offenses	13		248		
TOTAL MOTOR VEHICLE	13	2.1%	248	6.6%	
Disorderly Conduct Deadly Weapons Other	28 20 34		65 36 103		
TOTAL OTHER	82	13.2%	204	5.4%	
TOTALS	621		3,747		

Table 4: Disposition reports containing more than eight charges: breakdown of offenses

#### **Court Action**

In 71.8 percent of the 250 reports audited, the disposition reported was conviction. The other court actions reported were dismissal (24.1 percent), acquittal (2.8 percent), leave to reinstate (1 percent), and Chapter 56.5-1410, 710 probation (0.1 percent).

#### Sentence Imposed

The reports also covered the full range of possible sentences. The majority (66.8 percent; n=167) indicated some term of imprisonment, 22.4 percent (n=56) involved some kind of of court supervision or probation, 2.8 percent (n=7) involved a fine, and 8 percent (n=20) reported other kinds of court action.

#### Processing of Reports Containing More Than Eight Charges

Disposition reports containing more than eight charges illustrate many of the situations that can occur in the normal adjudication of criminal cases.

First and most obvious is when an offender is arrested and charged with more than eight crimes. A less obvious yet frequent occurrence is the "joinder" of offenses, defendants, or related prosecutions. This practice is commonly referred to as the "merging" of cases or of charge counts in an indictment or complaint.

Although this audit did not specifically examine how often merging of cases, charges, or related prosecutions occurs, it did reveal that 45 percent of the reports we examined contained final court action in more than one criminal case. In fact, the average number of cases disposed of per report was more than three. How DSP processes these reports is particularly problematic. For example, the reporting circuit court clerks frequently indicate the additional case numbers to be considered "merged" with the case reported disposed of. That, however, is the <u>only</u> information about merged court cases. No arrest or arrest charge information is available. In these instances, the CCH data input operators are left with u'sposition information to enter into the database for the merged cases. Moreover, if the cases involved separately reported arrests, those segments in the CCH system would be missing any indication of their final disposition. Likewise, it is not always entirely clear what information should be posted to the CCH system for charges or charge counts that are reported merged into others at final disposition.

These situations are also problematic because, while the courts are permitted to merge cases, charges or related prosecutions, they are not required to do so. This leads to a lack of uniformity in the application of this procedure, which also adds to confusion about exactly what information should be recorded on CCH.

When a CCH data input operator is presented with a disposition report dealing with more than eight charges, several transactions can result. What is posted to the database depends on the previous processing of the related arrest report and the charge information it contained.

Examining how these problematic disposition reports are processed naturally led to questions concerning the processing of <u>arrest</u> reports that contain more than eight charges. Where the transaction logs permitted, the audit team examined the arrest segments associated with these disposition reports.

This further investigation revealed that, in some cases, when an arrest report indicates more than eight charges, a data input operator may "create" additional arrest segments in the CCH database to capture the ninth and subsequent charges. An operator accomplishes this by

assigning a document control number to any additional arrest segments and entering an alphabetic character along with the date of arrest.

In the sample of records we examined 15 reports contained these additional arrest segments. Eleven of these records contained one additional arrest segment, three contained two segments, and one contained three. DSP personnel, when asked about this practice, reported that the CCH database may contain as many as 12,000 of these additional arrest segments. In other words, up to 6,000 records in the database may contain these additional arrest segments.

This practice inflates not only the number of arrests on the CCH system, but also the number of "missing" dispositions. For example, in one of the cases audited, three additional arrest segments were created, none of which contained matching dispositions.

Our examination also revealed that DSF personnel do not apply this practice uniformly. In some instances, additional segments were created to capture one charge, while in other instances additional segments were not created. Sometimes reports contained multiple counts of the same charge, but only one charge was entered into the database. For other similar reports, data input personnel would enter each individual count of a reported charge.

The manner in which multiple counts for the same charge are handled poses an additional data quality concern. An individual's criminal history record could be perceived in completely different ways, depending on whether the transcript reflects multiple counts or only a single count per charge.

Table 5 provides a breakdown of the records we sampled for this analysis, first by charges and then by the number of counts on those charges. When only single-count charges were examined, the offenses were predominantly violent ones (44.6 percent). Yet if all counts of the offenses included in the sampled disposition reports are considered, the predominant offense type is clearly property (50.2 percent). This difference is graphically illustrated in Figure B.

This situation can also apply to individual criminal history records. Unless all offense counts contained on disposition reports are entered into the CCH system, an accurate and complete assessment of an offender's criminal record is impossible. A criminal history that is dominated by violent crimes may be misinterpreted as one that is characterized by mostly property offenses. It is important that officials be able to identify all counts of charges in criminal history records. The coding and input of this information should be uniform and standardized.

#### Summary

The processing of disposition reports referencing more than eight charges raises at least two significant issues:

- 1. The recording of merging charges, cases, and related prosecutions and the CCH reporting requirements concerning this court action must be standardized. Likewise, data entry procedures for handling this kind of disposition information must be made more uniform. To the extent that the CCH system is supposed to maintain court case numbers as a "pointer" to court case files, the system must be able to record more than one case number per disposition segment. Likewise, cases disposed of in mergers must be able to be linked back to any arrest documents previously reported to DSP.
- 2. The practice of "creating" additional transaction segments and artificial criminal history record information should be stopped. The system must be made able to record not only multiple offenses, but also multiple counts of the same offense. To the greatest extent

possible, DSP should correct the records in the database that currently contain these additional segments of criminal history record information.

Implementation of the redesigned CCH system should address these two concerns.

Table 5: Charge type defined by multiple versus single counts of charges

Charge Type					
	No.	Pct.	No.	Pct.	
Violent	277	44.6	1,215	32.4	
Property	230	37.0	1,879	50.2	
Drugs/Liquor	19	3.1	201	5.4	
Motor Vehicle	1.3	2.1	248	6.6	
Other	82	13.2	204	5.4	
Totals	621		3,747		
	Property Drugs/Liquor Motor Vehicle Other	No. Violent 277 Property 230 Drugs/Liquor 19 Motor Vehicle 13 Other 82	No.         Pct.           Violent         277         44.6           Property         230         37.0           Drugs/Liquor         19         3.1           Motor Vehicle         13         2.1           Other         82         13.2	No.         Pct.         No.           Violent         277         44.6         1,215           Property         230         37.0         1,879           Drugs/Liquor         19         3.1         201           Motor Vehicle         13         2.1         248           Other         82         13.2         204	No.         Pct.         No.         Pct.           Violent         277         44.6         1,215         32.4           Property         230         37.0         1,879         50.2           Drugs/Liquor         19         3.1         201         5.4           Motor Vehicle         13         2.1         248         6.6           Other         82         13.2         204         5.4



## **Reported Date of Arrest**

A total of 1,148 (9.9 percent) of the 11,660 disposition reports we examined were problematic because the arrest date reported by the circuit court clerk did not match the date recorded on the arrest fingerprint card originally submitted by the arresting agency (and, consequently, the date already recorded on the CCH database). Because the initial at-tempt to enter the disposition is made in Springfield, the data input operator there does not have immediate access to available source documentation about the original arrest since this information is kept in Joliet. As a precaution, if a "critical" data element reported on the disposition report does not readily "link" to what is recorded on the arrest report, the disposition report is set aside for subsequent processing at the Joliet facility. The reported date of arrest is one of these critical data elements

The audit team analyzed a sample of 300 of these disposition reports to get a better understanding of the reports. Three separate analyses were performed:

1. An examination of the nature of the reports, including:

- the total number of cases disposed of
- the type and number of charges reported disposed of
- the type of final court action
- the type of sentence, if any, imposed
- 2. An examination of the discrepancies in reported arrest date
- 3. An examination of the processing of these reports

#### Number of Cases Disposed of

More than 90 percent of the 300 disposition reports we examined (n=271) reported the disposition of a single court case. The other 28 reports accounted for the dispositions of 70 court cases. In all, the 300 reports involved the disposition of 341 cases.

#### Charges Disposed of

The 341 case dispositions involved 385 different criminal charges. These charges covered a broad range of violent, property, drug-related, motor vehicle, and other offenses. Final court , action was reported on 442 counts of these 385 charges.

#### **Court Action**

The majority of charge counts were disposed of through conviction (50.7 percent), although a significant number were also dismissed (41.2 percent). Acquittal was the final court action on 21 of the 442 offense counts (4.8 percent). On another nine counts the disposition was an assignment to special probation (2 percent), and on six counts "leave to reinstate" was the final disposition (1.4 percent).

#### Sentence Imposed

Forty-nine of the disposition reports in this category involved some form of imprisonment (16.5 percent), 87 (29.3 percent) involved some form of probation or court supervision, and

45 (15.2 percent) involved the imposition of a fine. In 113 (39.1 percent) reports, no sentence was imposed (for example, cases resulting in acquittals or dismissals).

#### Discrepancies in Reported Arrest Date

The disposition reports in this category contained one of two processing problems: 1) the report referred to an arrest date that did not agree with the one on the CCH system for the arrest document control number (DCN) reported earlier, or 2) the report was physically damaged or torn in such a way that the part of the report containing the reported arrest date was unreadable. Only three reports had the latter problem. The vast majority of the reports contained discrepant arrest dates rather than no date at all.

Most of these disposition reports referenced arrest dates that predated the dates already recorded on the CCH system. A total of 260 reports (87.5 percent) fit this pattern. Thirty-four reports indicated arrest dates that were later than the dates on the system. Table 6 provides a breakdown of the discrepancies between reported and recorded arrest dates.

Nearly 57 percent of the reported arrest dates (n=168) were within plus or minus four weeks of the dates recorded on the CCH system. Seventy percent (n=208) contained dates within six weeks of the dates recorded on the system.

In several cases, it appeared that the person completing the disposition form mistakenly recorded the offender's date of birth in the date-of-arrest field. In other cases, the reported date of arrest was probably the date the local agency completed the form.

#### Processing of Reports Referring to Discrepant Dates of Arrest

Our examination of these disposition reports revealed several notable audit findings. All but four disposition reports were from outside Cook County. This finding does not necessarily mean that Cook County disposition reports contained fewer problematic arrest dates. Rather, we found that Cook County disposition reports, both state's attorney reports and reports from the Cook County circuit court clerk, do not provide a field for recording the arrest date associated with the case being disposed of. In the four cases where a Cook County report contained a date of arrest, it was written in a field designated for allas dates of birth.

In addition to this problem with Cook County's reporting forms, our examination sought to determine why disposition reports containing no reported arrest date routinely could be processed without problems, when reports that did indicate a date of arrest, even if it was discrepant, could be flagged as processing problems. Disposition reports from Cook County that routinely do not include a date of arrest are processed, while reports that include a discrepant date are not.

Using the problematic reports we tried to assess two things:

- 1. Whether the arrest document control number (DCN) recorded in the disposition report matched the number already recorded on the CCH system; and
- 2. Whether the criminal charges associated with the disposition matched the charges associated with the arrest in question.

#### Table 6: Date of arrest reported versus date of arrest recorded on CCH

Difference (weeks)		Reports	Pct.	Cum. Pct.
- 10 9 8 7 6 5 4 3 2 1	•	54 3 9 12 27 30 47 41 29	18.2 1.0 3.0 2.7 4.0 9.1 10.1 15.8 13.8 9.8	18.2 19.2 22.2 24.9 28.9 38.0 48.1 63.9 77.7 87.5
0	56.6%	3	1.0	88.5
1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 + 10		6 5 1 1 0 2 0 13	2.0 2.0 1.7 0.3 0.3 0.0 0.0 0.7 0.0 4.4	90.5 92.5 94.2 94.5 94.8 94.8 94.8 95.5 95.5 95.5

Total Reports Examined = 297\*

"Note: Three reports were torn in such a way that the arrest date reported could not be reliably determined.

This examination revealed that in 285 of the 297 cases (96 percent) the document control number associated with the arrest matched the DCN on the CCH system, even though the arrest dates didn't match. Similarly, in 229 (77 percent) of the reports, the charges on the disposition report matched exactly those associated with the related arrest on CCH. In 48 of the reports, at least one charge matched. In only 19 (6 percent) of the reports did none of the charges match.

It would appear, then, that most of these 297 problematic disposition reports were unnecessarily withheld from timely processing.

#### Summary

The disposition report forms used by the state's attorney's and circuit court clerk's offices in Cook County do not easily support the reporting of arrest dates associated with the cases being disposed of.

The disposition report used by offices outside Cook County allows for the recording of arrest dates, but the field is physically located precariously close to the form's perforated tear point (the same is true for the document control number field). In some cases, this area of the form was completely torn through, resulting in the data being omitted from the disposition report.

While reports from Cook County routinely do not include the date of arrest, they are still processed by the State Police. At the same time, reports from non-Cook County agencies containing discrepant arrest dates are set aside and not processed in a routine manner.

Again, the redesigned CCH system must adequately address these issues.

### Entry of Dispositions From Custodial Reports

A total of 3,885 (33.3 percent) of the disposition reports we examined were placed in a problematic category because dispositional information about the criminal case was already on the CCH system. Specifically, information about the case was posted to the database from a custodial fingerprint card reporting the receipt of an offender at a correctional institution for service of a sentence.<sup>13</sup> If this information matched what was already on the system, the disposition report was simply marked for filing in the offender's criminal history record and nothing new was entered into the CCH database. However, if the disposition report indicated additional information that was not already on the system, or information that did not agree with what was on the system, the report was placed in this category of problematic reports.

This category of processing problems was caused by a CCH computer system design problem identified in previous audits. Under the current design, criminal history information can be posted to the database only in chronological order of its occurrence. In other words, state's attorneys' decisions to file (or not to file) charges can be entered into the computer only if the arrest report is on the system. Likewise, the receipt of an offender at the Illinois Department of Corrections can be entered into the database only if the arrest, the state's attorney's decision, and the final court disposition have all been posted to the CCH system.

In cases involving the imposition of prison or jail sentences, the offender routinely arrives at the correctional facility within one or two days of final court disposition. Because of this rapid transfer, custodial reports can arrive at DSP long before final court dispositions are recorded. The processing of disposition reports also may be slowed because the processing takes place at the Springfield facility, which relies on the mail for delivery of the reports. Custodial reports, for the most part, are literally hand-carried to the Joliet facility within hours of the transaction being reported.

#### Analysis

A sample of 350 of the 3,885 disposition reports were analyzed for discrepancies between the reported information and what had been posted to the CCH system from the custodial receipt card. Six key data elements were compared:

- Court case number
- Charges disposed
- Final court action

<sup>13</sup>The attachments to this report contain copies of the primary CCH forms, including the custodial fingerprint card.

- Date of final disposition
- Type of sentence imposed
- Term of sentence imposed

The data elements were compared using the different sources of information. The results were grouped into three categories:

- 1. Elements that matched. In this group, the item was present on both the CCH system and the source document and, where there were multiple occurrences of an report item (for example, two or more charges), all such occurrences matched.
- 2. Elements that didn't match. Here, the items did not match on the system and the source document. In cases of multiple occurrences of a data element, a discrepancy was coded if at least one of the data elements was discrepant (for example, one charge citation matched, another did not), or "extra" information appeared on CCH.
- 3. Elements that were missing on CCH. This status indicates that at least one occurrence of an item did not appear on the CCH system, but was indicated on the disposition report document (for example, the disposition report indicates two charges while CCH only indicates one).

The results of these comparisons are presented in Table 7 and are graphically summarized in Figure C.

	Case Number	Charge	Disposi- tion	Disp. Date	Sentence Type	Sentence Term
Matching	70	238	258	9	237	239
	(20%)	(68%)	(74%)	(3%)	(68%)	(68%)
Discrepant	5	72	56	336	64	62
	(2%)	(21%)	(17%)	(97%)	(19%)	(18%)
Missing	274	38	34	3	46	46
	(78%)	(11%)	(10%)	(1%)	(13%)	(13%)
Total Problems	279	110	90	339	110	108
Percent of All Records	80%	32%	27%	97%	32%	31%

## <u>Table 7</u>: Comparison of data entered from custodial reports versus data contained in disposition reports



#### **Court Case Number**

In 274 of the 350 comparisons (78 percent) the court case number was missing from the CCH system. This high rate of missing information is not surprising since the current custodial fingerprint card does not include a field for court case number.

Of the 75 instances in which the court case number was indicated on CCH, the number (or numbers) matched 70 times (93 percent) Five discrepancies between the report and the CCH entry were found.<sup>14</sup>

#### Charges Disposed of

in 110 of the 350 cases audited (31 percent) some type of inaccuracy was found between the charges the report indicated were disposed of and those already posted to the CCH database. There were 38 (109 percent) instances in which at least one charge was missing on CCH. In 72 other instances, discrepancies in charge information were revealed.

#### Final Court Action

In 90 (26 percent) of the reports examined there was an inconsistency between the disposition on CCH and that indicated on the report. In 56 reports the inconsistency was a discrepancy between CCH data and the data reported in the disposition examined. The other 34 reports reflected data missing from the CCH system.

#### Date of Disposition

In 336 of the 350 record comparisons (97 percent) there was a discrepancy in the date (or dates) of disposition between the two documents. Since the custodial receipt card does not report the disposition date, BOI routinely posted the disposition date as one day prior to the custodial receipt for those cases that were entered from the custodial receipt card. There were only nine cases (3 percent) in which disposition dates matched.

#### Type of Sentence Imposed

In 110 reports (32 percent) examined there was an indication of a disparity in the sentence type. In 46 instances at least one sentence type was not included on CCH but appeared on the disposition report. A total of 64 reports indicated data that did not agree with what was recorded on the CCH system.

#### Term of Sentence Imposed

In addition to discovering disparate sentence types in many of the reports, the audit team found approximately 32 percent of the reports to contain some type of inconsistency in the sentence terms recorded. There were 46 instances (13 percent) in which least one sentence term was missing on CCH. The other 62 inconsistencies found were discrepancies between the reported and recorded terms of sentences imposed.

#### Summary

The lack of complete data about courts' actions is probably the most problematic aspect of DSP's practice of relying on the information contained in custodial receipt cards for final court disposition reports. The form used does not allow data input operators to report the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup>There was one case in which the disposition document did not correspond directly to the CCH disposition

segment -- this disposition report dealt with an escape, but the CCH disposition segment mentioned only the charges on which the individual was incarcerated -- so there was no basis for comparison.

date of final disposition or court case numbers. Furthermore, custodial information by definition does not include "non-conviction" information or information about sentences imposed other than those involving incarceration. Thus probation sentences, fines, and terms of court supervision are excluded from the custodial receipt cards. Also, multiple conviction charges are not easily recorded on the form because it provides for only two "confining of-fenses" to be reported. Finally, any information regarding charges not filed by state's attorneys or charges dismissed in the final disposition is excluded from the custodial report.

The process, in addition to creating incomplete records of final dispositions, also causes inaccurate information to be posted to the CCH system. Because the custodial forms do not allow data entry personnel to report the date of final court disposition, they must assign a random date in order to enter the dispositional information. The result is the creation of a disposition segment that will be associated with an inaccurate date of final court disposition in addition to often being incomplete. Our examination revealed that 334 (95 percent) of the reports' disposition dates disagreed with those entered by DSP personnel who posted the custodial receipt data to CCH.

Overall, in only one instance did all of the information in the computer system match the information contained in the disposition report. The audit team recommends that the redesigned CCH system include modifications that allow for the entry of criminal history record information received out of chronological sequence. This modification, in turn, would and should eliminate the need to create partial disposition segments from custodial fingerprint card reports.

### **Reports Indicating the Use of Aliases**

A total of 1,385 of the 11,660 dispositions examined (11.9 percent) were set aside because they contained alias names and/or dates of birth for the subject. These reports are processed routinely except that after entry they are flagged for further processing at DSP's Joliet facility. Thus except for this post-entry marking procedure, these reports are processed normally and are not problematic.

#### Analysis

A sample of 298 of these reports was audited to compare the information on the report with the data entered onto the CCH system. The following data elements from the disposition report were examined:

- Court case number
- Charges disposed of
- Type of final court action
- Date of final court disposition
- Type of sentence imposed
- Term of sentence imposed

Table 8 and Figure D present summary results of these examinations.

	Case Number	Charge	Disposi- tion	Disp. Date	Sentence Type	Sentence Term
Matching	258	268	271	272	263	215
	(87%)	(90%)	(91%)	(91%)	(88 <b>%)</b>	(72%)
Discrepan	ut 23	18	16	18	19	21
	(8%)	(6%)	(5%)	(6%)	(6%)	(7%)
Missing	17	12	11	8	16	62
	(5%)	(4%)	(4%)	(3%)	(5%)	(21%)
Total Problems	40	30	27	26	35	83
Percent of All Records	13%	10%	9%	9%	12%	28%

### <u>Table 8</u>: Comparison of data entered from reports indicating aliases versus data contained in disposition reports


#### Court Case Number

In most of the cases we examined (87 percent) the court case number was entered as reported in the disposition. In 40 cases (13 percent), however, the number was either entered incorrectly or was not entered at all.

#### Charges Disposed of

In 90 percent of the cases audited, the charges reported disposed of were entered correctly into the CCH system. In 30 instances (10 percent) discrepancies were found or charges were not entered.

### Type of Final Court Action

The final court action was entered correctly in 91 percent of the instances examined. Discrepancies occurred in 16 (5 percent) of the reports In 11 cases (4 percent), at least one court action was omitted in data entry.

#### **Date of Final Court Disposition**

Again, our analysis revealed that in the vast majority of cases (91 percent), the date of final disposition was correctly entered from the disposition report. In only 6 percent (n=18) of the transactions examined was a discrepancy found.

#### Type of Sentence Imposed

Our audit revealed a similar number of discrepancies (n=19; 6 percent) in the type of sentence entered by DSP personnel from the disposition reports. Five percent of the sentences were not entered at all from the reports.

#### Term of Sentence Imposed

A substantial number (21 percent) of sentence terms indicated to have been imposed in the final court action were not entered into the system. Dispositions of individual charges, in other words, were not posted to the database in these instances. Additionally, 7 percent of the reports revealed discrepancies.

#### Summary

Our analysis of these disposition reports revealed that data was more likely to be omitted in entry rather than be entered incorrectly, although both occurrences were fairly infrequent. Information about multiple or concurrent sentences was not consistently and completely entered into the CCH system.

Furthermore, the efficiency of reprocessing reports at the Joliet facility simply to add allas information to the CCH system is questionable.

One method of data quality control mentioned in past audits can again be suggested as a means to help curb data entry inaccuracies. Key verification of data could be applied after the initial entry of CCH information to ensure that data items were posted to the database correctly and completely from source documentation

#### Illinois Criminal Justice Information Authority

### CCH Processing Times<sup>15</sup>

The timeliness of information posted to CCH hinges on two critical points. Initially, timeliness depends on the speed with which agencies report information to DSP. The Uniform Disposition Reporting (UDR) legislation mentioned previously stipulates time frames for information being reported to DSP, which are summarized as follows:

- Law enforcement agencies must submit arrest fingerprint cards within 24 hours of arrest.
- State's attorneys must submit information about decisions to file charges (or not file charges) within 30 days of such action.
- Court clerks must submit information on final dispositions and sentencing within 30 days.
- State prisons and county correctional facilities must submit a report indicating receipt of sentenced offenders within 30 days o receipt.

Once information is received at DSP, timeliness is a function of the amount of time DSP takes to enter this information to CCH. Of course, DSP's ability to post such information to CCH is contingent upon the quality and completeness of information it receives. In addition, as mentioned earlier in the audit, constraints of the current system require that events be entered in a chronological order.

While past audits have recognized these problems, no systematic analysis of processing times has been conducted to date. In the current audit, the examination of disposition reports and the corresponding CCH records, while limited, did provide the opportunity to analyze various processing times.

#### Analysis

Our analysis, it should be noted, was not conducted with a sample of disposition reports that was representative of all those processed during a period of time. Rather, it focuses only on dispositions that were determined to be problematic. Our conclusions, therefore, should not be applied to the overall processing of CCH dispositions.

Table 9 presents the processing times considered and summarizes the audit's findings.

### Date of Arrest to Date Arrest Entered Into CCH

An analysis of 1,174 cases in which a determination was possible revealed that 74 percent of the arrests were posted to CCH within four weeks (28 days) of the date of arrest as reported on CCH. As Table 10 indicates, approximately 13 percent of the arrests were posted within one week of occurrence while an additional 34 percent were posted between eight and 14 days after the date of arrest. Roughly 26 percent of the arrests in the sample were posted more than four weeks after the date of arrest. The average time from arrest to

33

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup>The sample of rejected disposition reports used in these analyses is not representative of all disposition reports processed by the Department of State Police. Our analyses were exploratory and descriptive in nature, and they focus exclusively on reports identified by DSP as problematic. Particular attention should be paid to the number of valid cases in the sample of 1,198 problematic dispositions considered in individual analyses. This section is meant to describe the processing of problematic reports as opposed to all disposition reports.

Table 9: Summary of elapsed times analyzed from problematic reports<sup>17</sup>

Dates Examined	Case	es" Media (Days		Valid Cases	Pct.
Arrest to Arrest Entry	1,19	98 16	0 to 3,667	1,174	98%
Arrest to Disposition	1,19	98 142	0 to 3,902	1,131	94%
Arrest Entry to Disposition	1,19	98 207	0 to 2,610	631	53%
Disposition	DR 81	48 68	1 to 1,153	279	35%
to Disposition Entry	CR 3!	50 28	-706 to 527	345	99%
Disposition to	DR 8	48 38	0 to 4,112	404	48%
Disposition Received	CR 35	50 19	0 to 404	194	55%
Disposition Received to	DR 8	48 101	20 to 480	39	5%
Disposition Entry	CR 3	50 5	-730 to 519	194	55%
"Note: DR denotes inst to the computer the instances i computer system	system : n which :	from dispo this infor	sition reports mation was ente	. CR den ered into	otes

#### Illinois Criminal Justice Information Authority

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup>Throughout this section, the "median" processing time is used to report average processing time. In the case of these elapsed times, the skewed nature of the distributions artificially inflate "mean" time. For a complete discussion of the appropriate uses of central tendency measurements, see George A. Ferguson's *Statistical Analysis in Psychology & Education*. New York: McGraw-Hill, 1976.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup>The sample of rejected disposition reports used in these analyses is not representative of all disposition reports processed by the Department of State Police. Particular attention should be paid to the number of valid cases considered in individual analyses in the interpretation of findings.

This analysis confirms the conclusion of previous audits that the processing of arrest fingerprint cards generally is accomplished routinely and satisfactorily. Based on the cases examined here, it appears that law enforcement agencies generally are forwarding arrest information to DSP in a timely manner and that DSP, in turn, is posting this information to CCH within an appropriate time frame.

#### Date of Arrest to Date of Final Court Disposition

In 1,131 cases the auditors were able to determine the criminal justice processing time, which is the total number of days between arrest and final disposition of a case. These processing times reflect the wide variation inherent in the criminal justice system. Cases negotiated through plea bargaining, for instance, were often disposed of in a matter of days, while cases going to trial sometimes took years to reach final disposition.

In terms of range, six cases were disposed of on the same day as the date of arrest. At the other extreme, one case took more than ten years (3,902 days) to dispose of, according to the arrest date recorded on CCH.

The frequency distribution of criminal justice processing times, based on periods four weeks in length, is displayed graphically in Figure E. The distribution reveals that approximately one-third of arrests were disposed of within 12 weeks. Across the remainder of the period, the rate generally levels off. The average time between arrest and final disposition was 142 days.<sup>18</sup>

#### Date Arrest Entered Into CCH to Date Final Court Disposition Entered

In 631 cases the auditors were able to determine the time between the date on which the arrest was entered on CCH and the date on which the final disposition was entered. Most of the cases for which this time could not be determined were those whose disposition was not entered on CCH.

As with criminal justice processing time, the variation in time between entry of the arrest date and of the date of final disposition was wide. To a large extent, this too reflects the wide variation inherent in criminal justice system processing. However, the length of time between entries would be expected to be somewhat greater since arrests are generally posted to CCH in a more timely manner than dispositions.

Time between entry ranged from 0 days to over seven years (2,610 days). Dispositions in 18 cases were posted to CCH on the same day as the arrest (0 days).

The distribution of elapsed time between entry dates is illustrated in Figure F.<sup>19</sup> The time analysis indicated that approximately 54 percent of the dispositions were entered within 32 weeks after arrest entry. The frequency of cases in each four-week period, however, fluc-tuated somewhat across the total period. After this point, the rate generally tapered off. The

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup>A total of 86 reports (8 percent) indicated an elapsed time greater than 84 weeks.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup>A total of 61 reports (10 percent) indicated an elapsed time greater than 84 weeks.

#### average time was 207 days.<sup>20</sup>

The remainder of the processing time analyses focus only on post-arrest processing time. This period spans three key events: 1) the date of disposition, 2) the date on which the disposition report was received at DSP, and 3) the date on which the disposition was posted to CCH. While it is logical to assume that these events occurred sequentially, certain CCH policies confounded this sequential order. Specifically, in the cases examined here, the practice of entering disposition information from custodial receipt cards caused two problems:

- The custodial receipt cards from which dispositions were entered did not report the date of disposition. To accommodate this deficiency DSP created a fictitious disposition date, usually determined to be one day prior to the date of custodial receipt. This fictitious disposition date compromises the accuracy of processing time since it probably does not reflect the actual disposition date.
- 2. As discussed earlier in this report, the entry of dispositional information from custodial receipt cards was ostensibly conducted to reduce the number of missing dispositions (or at least compensate for delinquent disposition reporting). However, such policies upset the logical sequence of events. Because of this policy, the entry of a disposition to CCH may predate the official receipt of dispositional information at DSP.

Because of these factors, post-arrest processing times for cases in which dispositions were entered from custodial cards were considered separately in the rest of the processing time analyses.

Time (weeks)	Number of Reports	Pct.	Cum. Pct.
1	149	12.7 %	12.7 %
2	398	33.9	46.6
3	210	17.9	64.5
4	109	9.3	73.8
More than 4	308	26.2	100.0
Total	1,174	100.0 %	

# <u>Table 10</u>: Time elapsed between date of arrest and date arrest was entered into CCH system

<sup>20</sup>While one might expect that time between the entry of arrests and the entry of corresponding final dispositions would parallel criminal justice processing time (time from arrest to final entry), the time between entries would be expected to be somewhat longer for several reasons. First, Illinois law requires law enforcement agencies to submit arrest information to DSP within 24 hours of receiving it; court clerks, by contrast, are allowed 30 days to submit final dispositions. Second, the posting of arrests to CCH has generally been found to be less problematic and more routine than the posting of dispositions. Although time between entry was determined for only 617 cases, whereas criminal justice processing time was determined in 1,131, a comparison of average times, respectively 207 and 143 days, reinforces the idea that arrests are entered in a more timely fashion than dispositions.

#### Illinois Criminal Justice Information Authority





#### Date of Final Court Disposition to Date Entered Into CCH

#### Cases Entered From Disposition Reports

The time between dispositions and entry was calculated for 279 cases. Cases where the time could not be determined were mostly those for which a disposition was never entered, but some were cases in which at least one of the dates was missing or invalid.

The average time between the date of final disposition and entry to CCH was 68 days, but this time ranged widely, from one day to over 3 years (1,153 days). As Table 11 indicates, comparing across periods four weeks in length, 34 percent were posted to CCH in the second period, or within 29 to 56 days of the occurrence. An additional 24 percent were posted within the next period. On the other hand, some 26 percent of these dispositions were posted more than 16 weeks after the date of final court disposition.

#### Cases Entered From Custodial Receipt Cards

Time to entry was determined from custodial receipt cards in 345 of the cases. In contrast to dispositions entered from disposition reports the entry time for these cases was generally less, averaging 28 days (compared to 68).

An examination of the range of times revealed five cases in which a disposition was entered before the date indicated on the disposition report, the earliest having been entered 706 days before.<sup>21</sup> For those cases in which entry of the disposition occurred after the reported date of disposition, the longest time was 527 days. As Table 11 indicates, the distribution of the entry processing time for these reports appears more "timely" than for cases entered from disposition reports. Approximately 51 percent had been entered within four weeks of the disposition.

#### Date of Final Court Disposition to Date Received at DSP

#### Cases Entered From Disposition Reports

The amount of time that elapsed between the disposition and the receipt of dispositions at DSP was determined in 404 of the 848 cases. A large portion of the cases were ones in which the DSP receipt date was not indicated. In addition, several could not be determined because disposition dates were missing or invalid.

Based on these 404 cases, the average elapsed time between the date of final court disposition and the receipt of the report at DSP was 38 days. The range of this elapsed time was considerable. On one hand, seven dispositions were received at DSP on the same day on which they were reported to have occurred. On the other hand, the time between disposition and receipt was more than 11 years (4,112 days) for one case, and more than one year in a total of 40 cases (10 percent).

As Table 12 indicates, the greatest proportion of these cases, 40 percent, were received within four weeks of the disposition date. Approximately 20 percent were received within an additional four-month period. However, 24 percent of these reports were received more than 16 weeks after the date of disposition.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>21</sup>Given DSP<sup>1</sup>: policy of entering dispositions from custodial receipt cards it is plausible that this may have occurred. An individual may have been received by the Illinois Department of Corrections while other charges were pending. Also, the date of disposition may have been incorrectly recorded on the disposition report.

# <u>Table 11</u>: Time elapsed between date of final court disposition and date disposition was entered into CCH system

	Time (Weeks)	No.	Pct.	Cum. Pct.
Dispositions Entered From Disposition Reports	Prior to Disposition 0 - 4 5 - 8 9 - 12 13 - 16 More than 16	0 16 94 66 31 72	0.0 % 5.7 33.7 23.7 11.1 25.8	0.0 % 5.7 39.4 63.1 74.2 100.0
	Total	279		
Dispositions Entered From Custodial Reports	Prior to Disposition 0 - 4 5 - 8 9 - 12 13 - 16 More than 16 Total	5 172 105 48 5 10 345	1.5 % 49.9 30.4 13.9 1.5 2.9	1.5 % 51.4 81.8 95.7 97.2 100.0

#### Cases Entered From Custodial Receipt Cards

Determination of the disposition receipt time was possible in 194 of the 350 cases entered from the custodial receipt card. As above, most of the cases in which a determination was prevented occurred because date of receipt at DSP was not indicated.

Based on these 194 cases, the average elapsed time between final court disposition and the receipt of the report at DSP was 19 days. Processing times ranged from 0 days, for seven cases received on the same date as the reported date of disposition, to 404 days after the date of the disposition for one case.

As indicated in Table 12, the majority of these cases were received relatively early, 65 percent within four weeks. An additional 18 percent of the cases were received within the next four-week period. Relatively few disposition reports were received after eight weeks from the reported disposition. However, 19 cases (10 percent) were received at DSP more than 16 weeks after the date of disposition.

Clear differences in processing time become evident upon comparing the disposition receipt time for cases entered from custodial receipt cards against those entered from disposition reports. Considering the average times and the distribution of these times overall, we noted an interesting facet of the entry of dispositional information from custodial fingerprint cards. In addition to bypassing the computer system requirement that information be posted to the system in a chronological order, it may be argued that the entry of dispositional information from custodial reports, in effect, is faster than waiting for circuit clerks to report the disposition. The analysis above indicates, however, that the difference in average times is relatively small. More to the point, the reprocessing of these reports in Jollet adds to the time It ultimately takes to post information to the system concerning these final court dispositions. Thus whether the entry of dispositional information from custodial reports takes more time than waiting to process the information directly from the disposition report is questionable. Unfortunately, given the current system's shortcomings, waiting for the disposition report means that the custodial report, if reported, cannot be processed until the disposition report has been entered into the computer system.

Table 12: Time elapsed	between date of final	court disposition and	date disposition was
received at DS	;P		

	Time (Weeks)	No.	Pct.	Cum. Pct.
Dispositions Entered From Disposition Reports	0 - 4 5 - 8 9 - 12 13 - 16 More than 16	162 82 42 21 97	40.1 % 20.3 10.4 5.2 24.0	40.1 % 60.4 70.8 76.0 100.0
	Total	404		
Dispositions Entered From Custodial Reports	0 - 4 5 - 8 9 - 12 13 - 16 More than 16 Total	126 35 9 5 19 194	64.9 % 18.0 4.6 2.6 9.8	64.9 % 82.9 87.5 90.1 100.0

#### Date Disposition Received to Date Entered Into CCH

#### Cases Entered From Disposition Reports

For cases entered from disposition reports, a determination of processing time between the day DSP received a disposition report and the day that report had been entered to CCH was limited to 39 cases. Cases in which a determination could not be made were many, due to the following causes: 1) the disposition was one of those not entered on CCH, and/or 2) the DSP receipt date was not indicated.

Based on these 39 cases the average time from receipt to entry was 101 days. The time to entry ranged from 20 to 480 days.

As Table 13 demonstrates, the largest portion of these dispositions (46 percent, or 18 cases) were entered at least 16 weeks after they had been received. Comparisons across the preceding four four-week periods are of limited value due to the small number of cases.

#### Illinois Criminal Justice Information Authority

41

#### Cases Entered From Custodial Receipt Cards

The audit team was able to determine "time to entry" for 194 cases in which dispositions were entered from custodial cards. Missing cases were mostly attributable to missing dates of receipt.

For cases entered from custodial receipt cards, "time to entry" takes on a different meaning because of the method by which these cases were processed.

Because these dispositions were entered from custodial receipt cards, it was possible that a disposition was entered to CCH <u>before</u> the actual disposition report was received at DSP. Cases in which the entry of a disposition <u>predates</u> the date of receipt are expressed as negative numbers. For instance, "time to entry" for a case that was posted seven days before the receipt of the disposition at DSP would be -7.

Rather than measuring DSP's speed in entering dispositions, as is the case with typical disposition entries, "time to entry" in this case provides an estimate of the degree to which these disposition entries predate or postdate the receipt of disposition reports.

The average "time to entry" for these cases was five days. However, the range of these times indicates that in 43 percent of the 194 cases the date of disposition entry predates the date the disposition was received. In 57 percent of the cases, the date of disposition entry postdates the date of receipt. (In one case these dates were the same.)

Table 13 also presents the distribution of the "times to entry" for predated and postdated entries, based on periods four weeks in length. As the table indicates, for a large portion of the cases the entry date either predated or postdated the date of receipt by four weeks or less (29 percent and 32 percent, respectively). In addition, approximately 16 percent of the dispositions were entered in the second four-week period after receipt (or within 29 to 56 days).

Generally, this analysis indicates that the entry of dispositions from custodial cards resulted in a "more timely" entry of disposition information than would have occurred had DSP waited for receipt of disposition reports. This was true of the 43 percent of the cases (n=84) that were entered before the receipt of disposition reports.

However, the fact that the entry date postdated the date of receipt in 57 percent of the cases (n=109) reveals that DSP had posted the disposition information from custodial cards after having received disposition reports. The audit found that the entry of disposition information from custodial cards is severely limited in its utility.

#### Summary

Analyzing processing times in the various categories of problematic dispositions helped the audit team assess the effect of deficiencies in reporting practices, constraints of the current CCH system and certain DSP policies on the timeliness of disposition entry to the system.

While the audit's primary focus was court disposition reporting, the available data also provided an opportunity to analyze arrest processing time data.

These analyses revealed that arrest processing is generally accomplished within an acceptable time frame. The majority of arrests (74 percent) were posted to the CCH database within 28 days of the date of arrest.

#### Illinois Criminal Justice Information Authority

With respect to disposition reporting, cases entered from disposition reports took an average (median) time of 68 days between the date of final disposition and the entry of the disposition to CCH. For cases entered from custodial receipt cards the time was 28 days.

The average time between the date of final disposition and the date the disposition was received at DSP was 38 days for those cases entered from the disposition reports and 19 days for those entered from custodial receipt cards.

The average time between the date of receipt and the entry of the disposition on CCH was 101 days for cases entered from disposition reports and five days for those cases entered from custodial receipt cards.

Our analyses revealed that, on the whole, the disposition reports did not arrive at DSP very long after the dispositions had been entered. Indeed, some dispositions had been received at DSP <u>before</u> the entry of the dispositional information from the custodial receipt card.

For several reasons, the overall efficiency of this entry process is called into question by this audit's findings. First of all, the actual date of final court disposition is not available on the custodial reports for data input personnel to post to the computer system. This date is created to allow entry. Likewise, "non-conviction" information and dispositional information not related to a term of imprisonment reportable on the custodial form is, by definition, missed. If and when DSP personnel in Springfield receive the court's disposition report for processing, they set it aside for forwarding to Joliet and reprocessing at that facility.

#### Illinois Criminal Justice Information Authority

	Time (Weeks)	No.	Pct.	Cum. Pct.	
Dispositions Entered From Disposition Reports	Prior to Disposition 0 - 4 5 - 8 9 - 12 13 - 16 More than 16	0 3 8 5 5 18	0.0 % 7.7 20.5 12.8 12.8 12.8 46.2	0.0 % 7.7 28.2 41.0 53.8 100.0	
	Total	39			
Dispositions Entered From Custodial	Predates Disposition				
Reports	More than 16 13 - 16 12 - 9 8 - 5 4 - 0	13 6 1 8 56	6.7 % 3.1 0.5 4.1 28.9	6.7 % 9.8 10.3 14.4 43.3	
	Postdates Disposition				
	0 - 4 5 - 8 0 - 12 13 - 16 More than 16	63 32 14 0 1	32.5 16.5 7.0 0.0 0.5	75.8 92.3 99.3 99.3 100.0	
	Total	194			

<u>Table 13</u>: Time elapsed between date final court disposition was received at DSP and date it was entered into CCH system

• •

# Significance of Audit

The 1985-1986 audit of the CCH system focused on the reporting and processing of problematic disposition reports. The audit team drew a stratified sample of 1,198 reports from the 11,660 that were problematic. Key dates in the processing of these cases were analyzed to determine the processing times of all relevant events from arrest to the posting of final dispositions.

Our audit documented several important findings:

• The current CCH system is not equipped to handle the variety of disposition outcomes encountered in routine criminal justice processing. In instances where more than one disposition results from a given charge or set of charges, CCH cannot adequately capture the second or subsequent disposition. The method used by DSP to modify the initial disposition to include information about the second or subsequent disposition is not satisfactory because such dispositions are not easily interpretable by criminal justice personnel and consequently inhibit effective decision making.

DSP identified two types of problematic dispositions: 1) those dispositions referring to second dispositions, such as the revoking of probation and sentencing to prison, and 2) those within a more specific category referring to dismissal after court supervision or certain types of probation used for serious drug offenders.

- The current CCH system does not allow for the entry of criminal history record information relating to more than eight charges. DSP developed a procedure for handling this computer design shortcoming, but it does not appear to be implemented in a uniform or consistent manner. In some cases in which there was information in the report dealing with more than eight charges, no disposition information was entered to CCH. Sometimes charges were omitted from entry. In still other cases, DSP created additional segments to capture the extra charge information. These methods inflate the number of arrests and missing dispositions on the CCH system and therefore compromise the utility of CCH as a decision-making tool.
- In situations where the disposition report indicated an arrest date that did not match the arrest date indicated on the corresponding CCH arrest segment, the report was not entered to CCH. There appeared to be no rationale for blocking the entry of these events, since DSP routinely enters disposition information from disposition reports in which no arrest date is indicated. Furthermore, based on information indicated on the disposition reports (the court case number and charge citations) it was evident that the dispositions could have been linked reliably to the arrest segment.
- The policy of entering the available dispositional information from the custodial fingerprint cards, rather than from the disposition report itself, resulted in inaccurate and incomplete dispositional information being posted to CCH. Again, this policy compromises the utility of CCH as a decision-making tool.
- Disposition reports forwarded from Springfield to Joliet in order to enter alias name or date of birth were generally not problematic. An examination of data elements on the disposition reports indicated that they generally matched the corresponding information on CCH. However, in approximately one-fifth of the CCH entries the information about sentence type and sentence term did not fully reflect what the disposition report indicated.

• An analysis of processing time confirmed findings of previous audits that arrest information is generally reported to DSP in a timely manner and that DSP, in turn, is posting this information to CCH within a relatively short time period, on average. On the other hand, the processing of dispositional information is more problematic. A considerable number of disposition reports are missing. The findings of this and previous audits demonstrate that deficiencies in processing of dispositional information are further aggravated by the nonuniformity of manual disposition reporting in Illinois, and that certain systematic constraints of the current CCH system act to delay the timely processing of disposition information at DSP.

# Findings and Recommendations

#### Finding Number 1

The category of problematic dispositions dealing with second or subsequent dispositions in a particular case accounted for 4,638, or 40 percent, of the 11,660 reports examined in this audit. As past audits of the CCH system have repeatedly indicated, the current system does not allow for the entry of these kinds of reports to the computer system. Information about an offender's performance on court supervision or probation is a vital part of his criminal his-tory record. Revocation of these terms of supervision, moreover, should be part of a sub-ject's state rap sheet.

#### **Recommendation Number 1**

The Department of State Police's redesigned CCH system should include modifications that permit the entry of multiple dispositions of arrest charges.

#### Finding Number 2

The current CCH system design does not allow for information to be posted to the database for more than eight charges.

#### **Recommendation Number 2**

DSP's redesigned CCH system should include modifications that will allow for more than eight charges and their dispositions to be entered into the database.

#### Finding Number 3

In order to record more than eight arrest charges on the CCH system, data input personnel at DSP sometimes create additional arrest segments on the system. There are approximately 12,000 records on the CCH system containing such arrest segments. These segments, in effect, artificially inflate the number of arrests on the system, as well as the number of missing dispositions.

#### **Recommendation Number 3**

DSP's redesign of the CCH system should include revision of the records containing these artificial arrest segments to accurately and completely reflect the number of arrests and charges involved.

#### Finding Number 4

Disposition report forms currently used by the Circuit Court Clerk of Cook County do not contain data fields for reporting the arrest document control number or the arrest date for the case being disposed of. The forms also do not include fields for other data elements such as the Chicago Police Department's individual record (IR) number and DSP state Iden-tification number (SID). Even though these data elements are critical for tracking court cases and offenders through the criminal justice system, they must be hand-written into the margins of the Cook County circuit clerk forms.

#### **Recommendation Number 4**

The Authority recommends that the Cook County Circuit Court Clerk's "Notification of Felony Conviction" reporting form be revised to allow the clerks to easily record the arrest document control number and personal identification numbers used by the State Police and the Chicago Police Department.

#### Finding Number 5

A substantial number of dispositions are posted to the CCH system from custodial fingerprint card submissions. This reporting form does not, in its current format, allow DSP to report the date of final court disposition or court case numbers. Furthermore, these submissions automatically exclude any dispositional information not related to the conviction and term of incarceration. Thus "non-conviction" dispositional information is not included in these partial disposition reports. When these submissions are relied upon to create as-yet unrecorded disposition segments, moreover, an unknown date of final court disposition is posted to the system, so that the correctional transaction can also be entered into the CCH database.

#### **Recommendation Number 5**

The procedure of entering disposition segments into the CCH database from custodial reports is followed to accommodate a CCH system design constraint identified in previous audits. The Authority recommends that DSP's redesigned CCH system include modifications that allo criminal history record information to be posted to the system out of chronological sequence. It should be possible to post custodial transactions to the system without needing to create the preceeding criminal justice transactions that have yet to be reported.

#### Finding Number 6

Disposition data entry, for the most part, appears to be fairly complete and accurate. The timeliness of arrest card processing is not problematic. However, given the current organizational distribution of data processing between the Joliet and Springfield facilities, the timeliness of disposition processing is questionable. For certain disposition reports requiring verification against a subject's physical record file in Joliet before processing, this situation prevents timely posting of criminal history record information to the CCH database.

#### **Recommendation Number 6**

Sufficient resources should be made available to DSP that permit all CCH-related processing of reported criminal history record information to occur at the Joliet facility, where source documentation is readily available.



### State of Illinois DEPARTMENT OF STATE POLICE Office of the Director

September 11, 1986

James B. Zagel Director Christian R. Maerz Assistant Director

> Mr. William Gould, Chairman Illinois Criminal Justice Information Authority 120 South Riverside Plaza Chicago, Illinois 60606

Dear Mr. Gould:

The Department of State Police has reviewed the <u>Annual Audit Report for</u> <u>1985-1986</u>: <u>Court Disposition Reporting and Processing</u>. Efforts are now underway to resolve many of the issues and recommendations which this report has raised.

The Department of State Police remains committed to improving the accuracy, completeness, and timeliness of criminal history record information which we collect, store and disseminate. While significant improvements have been made over the last several years, this audit will assist in focusing our attention for future program improvements.

Very truly yours, and Bigs James B. Zagel

Director

JBZ:m

CHAIRMAN

SEP 22 1986

# Bibliography

- **1985** Annual Audit Report for 1984–1985: Illinois' Computerized Criminal History System. Chicago: Illinois Criminal Justice Information Authority.
- **1983** Annual Audit Report for 1982-1983: Data Quality of Computerized Criminal Histories. Chicago: Illinois Criminal Justice Information Authority.
- **1981** Annual Privacy and Security Audit Report. Chicago: Illinois Criminal Justice Information Council.
- **1980** Annual Privacy and Security Audit Report. Chicago: Illinois Criminal Justice Information Council.
- **1982** Management and Program Audit, Criminal History Components, Criminal Justice Information System, Illinois Department of Law Enforcement. Springfield: Office of the Auditor General.

# Attachments

**CCH Report Forms** 

**Examples of CCH Transcripts** 

Uniform Disposition Reporting Law

Illinois Criminal Justice Information Authority

ELENTRA ALCONTRACTORIO ANTONIA DE LE CONTRA

heite field in die bei natureten in deutste werden in die deutste konnen werden einen verste einen andere einen

DOCUMENT CONTROL NUMBER	ANNESTING AGEN	CY NEIC NO -ORI	STAT	E BURRAU NUMBER BO	я	LAST	NAME-NA	<b>u</b>		PAST NAME			-
<b>D0</b> 510300			П		Ø								
ARREST	CONTRIBUTORING	CIC NO -ORI	FBLN	IUMBER-FBI		SEX	RACE	SOB	DATE OF BIRTH-0	08	HEIGHT	WEIGHT	EYES
						HAIH	HAI	SKIN-SKN	SCARSMARK	TATTOOS-S	<u>мт</u>	_L	
CARD			j	ARRESTEE HELD FOR PROSECUTION									
ARAEST JACKET NUMBER-IID						SOCIA	IL SECURI	TY NUMBER	SOC	MISCELLA	NEOUS MNU		
	IL				)				51,	TE USE ONL	Y		
ALSO KHOWN AS AKA	<u>, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , </u>			ALIAS DOB									
ALSO KNOWN AS-AKA				ALIAS DOB		CLAS	SIFICATION	N					
						REFE							
DATE OF ARREST-DOA		DATE OF OFFEN	ISE DOU										
SIGNATURE OF OFFICIAL TAKING F	INGERPRINTS			IDENTIFICATION NO.		NCIC	FINGERPR	INT CLASSI	ICATION-FPC				
SIGNATURE OF ARRESTILE				DATE PRINTED			DN BASIS	FOR CAUTI	ON-ICO				
NOTICE THIS INFORMATION STATE AND NATIONAL FILES	ESIDENCE ADDRESS		CITY	<u> </u>	ATE		21	P CODE	CO	URT CASE NU	MBER	c	OUAT CLK NO
ARRESTING OFFICER-NAME			SADGE NO	DEFENDANT'S DRIV	ERS LICENS	ΞĒ		N	UMBER OF DEFEN	DANTS	NUMBER	OF CHARGES	
BOOKING NUMBER	EPORT HEFERENCE NO						OFFEN	ses					
		CHAR	GE CHAP	TER ARTICLE	SECTION	9	UBSECTIO	N	DESCR	PTION OF OF	FENSE		S C A Marr
TIME OF ARREST BEA	r su	B BEAT 1											
ARREST LOCATION CODE	YPE WEAPON	2											
		3											
ARREST LOCATION/DATE		4											
RESISTED ASSAULTED INJU OFFICER OFF YES NO YES NO YES	ICER	COTICS 5											-+
YES NO	D NUMBER	6											
WARRANT NUMBER	WARRANT CLEAR	7											
												]	
WAIVED BY			WARRANT N	UMBER		1S	UE DATE	BOND SET	BY (1) BULE OF C	OURT OR (2)	JUDGE-ENTE	R AE	
SEND CRIMIN	IAL HISTORY RECORD T	0						BOND NU	VIBER		BOND AMO		
NCIC	AGENCY												
AGENCY INFORMATIO	AGENCY N:							TYPE BON		BOND	PROF	10%	
								INITIAL CO	OURT DATE	*******	TIM	E	
								INITIAL CO	URT LOCATION				
DLE6-135(7-78)	COPY 1 B	UREAU C	F IDEN	NTIFICATION	٧			· ·					]

ł

	DISPC	<b>DSITIC</b>	N REPO	a share a share and a share a s
LAST NAME	FIRST NAME	ander a de a de mange angeler ( a cada de a de a de a de a de a de a de	MIDDLE NAME	
STATE S ATTORNEY NOIC NO	STATE'S	ATTORN	NEY DISPOSI	TION
				REVISION
ARREST CHARGE			с	ADDITIONAL
ARREST CHARGE CHARGE NOT CHARGE NUMBER FILED FILED	CHAPTER ART	ICLE SECTION	SUBSECTION A	CLASS DATE OF DISPOSITION CASE NUMBER
2 a b	ann an Arrystonnau (Maistein an Status a	n dada (yaya yang yang yang kalanan ajad yayang yang dadi kalan yang yang kalana dalar dalar d		
3 a b	ningen van den kannen in verse annangen die bijveren van de verse van de verse gewonde in de sev			
4 <sub>c b</sub>	ana amin'ny soo amin'ny soo amin'ny soorana amin'ny soor	landa aya ana di karang mana Malaka ana dinan karang ang mila di ang karang ang karang di karang dinang karang Ing karang di karang mang mang mang mang mang mang mang m		
5 a b	الم الذي الم الي الم الع الم الع الم	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		<mark>┥───┥─┥──</mark> └──┤──┤──────
6 a b 7 a b				
8 a b	na da an an anna an an an an an an an an an	naminining yn die fan gewennen de striken en wetten de staat werste de server in weter en	*******	
COURT'S NOIC NUMBER		<u> </u>	ISPOSITI	
	]			
	COO SOO SOO SOO SOO SOO SOO SOO SOO SOO	ARTICLE SECT	ION SUBSECTION A	CLASS DATE OF DISPOSITION CASE NUMBER
	d e			
4 a b c a				
5 a b c a	e	antistangen SV (dang sayah SV ayahatan a di menerakan kanan dan sebagai kanan dan sebagai kanan dan sebagai kan		
	d e			
7 a b c c		ana an	ay an and an Reference and a second secon	
SENTEN	CE	aleren gere Aleren Berlande oppen Mit all fallen og som som gen er er földet har pro-	BONDI	NFORMATION
DE ATION PRISONMENT PERIODIC IMPRISONMENT PERIODIC IMPRISONMENT PROBATION	RT SUPERVISION	TERM	RELEASED ON RECOGN	
ARREST HE SILL WI CHARGE U WI NUMBER O		THS DAYS AMOUNT	BOND	
		b c d	AMOUNT	
2 a b c d 3 a b c d		b 2 d	BOND FORFEITURE	BOND FORFEITURE
4 a b c d		b c d	WARRANT ISSUED	WARRANT QUASHE
5 a b c d	e fi a	b c d		*'
6 a b c d	e f a	b c d	DEPARTMENT	OF LAW ENFORCEMENT
	t	b c d	BUREAU 300 A	OF IDENTIFICATION
b b d a o		b [ ] d	SPRINGF	IELD, ILLINOIS 62706
DLE 6 - 133 (8/81)			COPY 1 - BURE	AU OF IDENTIFICATION

I

I

	Cook County Circuit Clerk Disposition Reporting Form
	Arrest Document No
	MORGAN M. FINLEY, CLERK OF THE CIRCUIT COURT OF COOK COUNTY NOTIFICATION OF FELONY FINAL DISPOSITION
	MUNICIPAL DEPARTMENT MUNICIPAL DISTRICT
	DEFENDANT'S NAME:
	Last Known Address: State
	D/L No United Arresting Agency;
	Date of Birth:
	RACE: (White) Chinese Mexican Puerto Rican Negro Indian Japanese
	CONVICTION INFORMATION
	Date:
	PLEA.' FINDING VERDICT
$\langle$	GUILTY NOT GUILTY SOL NOLLE PROS DEATH SUGGESTED-CAUSE ABATED
-	CONVICTED UNDER Chap. Sell 2 Sec. 140.2 Par (. 6. ) CHARGE
Count	DEATH Execution Date:
-	Imprisonment To State Dept. of Corr. for
	PER IMPRM
X	PROBATION. 30 M The Ist
1 2	CONVICTED UNDER Chap Sec Par CHARGE
Count 2	DEATH Execution Date:
	Imprisonment To State Dept. of Corr. for
	PER IMPRM
	PROBATION
13	CONVICTED UNDER Chap Sec Par CHARGE
Count	DEATH Execution Date:
	Imprisonment To State Dept. of Corr. for
	Department Correction - Under Work Release Program
	PROBATION
11 4	CONVICTED UNDER Chap Sec Par CHARGE
Count	DEATH Execution Date:
	Imprisonment To State Dept. of Corr. for
	PER IMPRM

### CONC WITH...... CONSEC WITH .....

™ • 00 2 2 7 0 1 0	AUENLY BELLIVES		STATE BUNEAU	) N 244 H 8 H 8 L −					I	HIRST NAM	ŧ	•••	
<b>COO</b> 337819			LL.		Ø								
AN ANNA AREAN AND AN	DATE ALLIVED					1	·····	1			1		
	INSTRUCTIONS	THE OF PRINT ALL	NEDBIALON			HALL	508				- 01E 11404 T	WENGHT	1 *1 5
r		THE MARKS MAR USE FOR CE OBELITY IF YOU TYPE UND NOT	a to stauchu	HE HAND PRINTING	HAU	1 1441	SEIN SEN	1 50	ARS MARKS	TATTOOS	<u>,                                     </u>		
L ISTITUTION NUMBER ITLI	ALSU KNOWN AS AN												
	<u> </u>				soc	AL SEGUR	ITT NUMBI	A SOC		MISCELL	ANEOUS NUMB	ERMAU	
DINFINING SEFENSE DES	SCR(PT-UN	t i	TAPTER ARTIC .	E SECT-ON	-				\$1	ATE USE D	INL Y		
CONFINING DEFENSE DE	SCRIPTION	e.	APTER ART CL	ESECTION		551 FIC 4 TI	0N						
		<u> </u>								•			
ENTENCE FRM					HE1	ERENCE							
SILNATURE OF OFFICIAL TAKING F	INGERPHINTS			IULN MILATION NO		FNGERP	BINT CLAS	SIFICATIO	DN FPC	. <u></u>			
				DATEPHINTED									
SIGNATURE OF RESIDENT					C11	OF BIRT-	4					ľ	10
NOTICE THIS DATA WAY BE COAPU	TERIZED IN LOLAL S	I A F AN YNAT UNA	11115			TUS				<del></del>	CODE		
S	TATUS			CODE		100					CODE		
A	bsconded			401	Man	datory	y Relea	ise Re	voked		415		
А	dministrative	Discharge		402	Parc	loned					416		
	ert of Relief	,-		403	Parc	led					417		
					Parc	ie Rev	oked				418		
_	ommited Sun			404	Prot	ation					419		
	ominutation entence Resci			405	Prot	oation	Revok	ed			420		
с	onditional Re	elease		406	Rele	used b	ov Cou	rt Orc	ier		422		
с	onditional Re	elease Revok	ed	407		Released by Court Order Released Expiration of Minimum Time					428		
D	oceased			408									
D	ischarged fro			409			on App -		bhd		423		
	ustice System						Commi	uted			424		
	scaped			410	Wor	k Furl	ough				425		
E	xecuted			411	Wor	k Furl	ough F	levck	ed		426		
Furloughed				412	Transferred				421				
F	urlough Revo	ked		413	Acc	epted	Parote	Jurisc	liction		429		
M	landatory Re	lease		414	Acc	epted	Probat	ion Ju	risdictio	on	430		
<b></b>					J								
<u></u>			]					-					
DUR	ATION OF ST	ATUS CHANC	GE I	DATE OF TF	ANSA	TION	1	S	IGNATU	JRE OF	OFFICIA	a.	

### CCH "Complete" Record



## CCH "Incomplete" Record

JUL 1 Q 1984	14)0 29 IOI 19				
The following record is fu	I 17 U 000 m/w dob 01 09 49				
Illinois State Bureau Nur	iber				
CONTRIBUTOR OF FINGERPRINTS	NAME AND NUMBER	ARRESTED OR RECEIVED	CHARGE	BIGPOSTICH	
SO: Wheaton, Ill. Dupage Co.		3-23-69 MP	dis conduct		
SO:Wheaton, Ill. DuPage Co.		06 20 70	Hurder	122270 45-65 yrs	
Dept of Corr SPen Joliet Ill		12 28 7	0 murder(2)	45-65 yrs (2cc)	
				-	
r cornelation of our records, pr					

For consistion of our records, piezes subdiv discontinues to this Bursau in one of the foregoing cases where they do not sconar. Norshone indicated by \* ARE NOT SUPPORTED BY FINGERPRINTS IN 15.8. July, I(INS-MM-1249) 18 - Assessed all sequents are consumications to suspeninteeser.

#### PUBLIC ACT 83-752

An Act to amend Section 2.1 of "An Act in relation to criminal identification and investigation", approved July 2, 1931, as amended.

Be it enacted by the People of the State of Illinois, represented in the General Assembly:

Section 1. Section 2.1 of "An Act in relation to criminal identification and investigation", approved July 2, 1931, as amended, is amended to read as follows:

(Ch. 38, par. 206-2.1)

Sec. 2.1. For the purpose of maintaining complete and accurate criminal records of the Department of Law Enforcement, it is necessary for all policing bodies of this State, the clerk of the circuit court, the Illinois Department of Corrections, the sheriff of each county, and State's Attorney of each county to submit certain criminal arrest, charge, and disposition information to the Department for filing at the earliest time possible. Unless otherwise noted herein, it shall be the duty of all policing bodies of this State, the clerk of the circuit court, the Illinois Department of Corrections, the sheriff of each county, and the State's Attorney of each county to report such information as provided in this section, both in the form and manner approved by the Illinois Criminal Justice Information Authority and within 30 days of the criminal history event. Specifically:

(a) Arrest Information. All agencies making arrests for offenses which are required by statute to be collected, maintained or disseminated by the Department of Law Enforcement shall be responsible for furnishing daily to the Department fingerprints, charges and descriptions of all persons who are arrested for such offenses. All such agencies shall also notify the Department of all decisions not to refer such arrests for prosecution. An agency making such arrests may enter into arrangements with other agencies for the purpose of furnishing daily such fingerprints, charges and descriptions to the Department upon its behalf.

(b) Charge Information. The State's Attorney of each county shall notify the Department of all charges filed, including all those added subsequent to the filing of a criminal court case, and whether charges were not filed in criminal cases for which the Department has a record of an arrest.

(c) Disposition Information. The clerk of the circuit court of each county shall furnish the Department, in the form and manner required by the Supreme Court, with all final dispositions of criminal cases for which the Department has a record of an arrest or a record of fingerprints reported pursuant to paragraph (d) of this Section. Such information shall include, for each charge, all (l) judgments of not guilty, judgments of guilty including the sentence pronounced by the court, discharges and dismissals in the trial court; (2) reviewing court orders filed with the clerk of the circuit court which reverse or remand a reported conviction or vacate or modify a sentence; (3) continuances to a date certain in furtherance of an order of supervision granted under section 5-6-1 of the Unified Code of Corrections or an order of probation granted under either section 10 of the Cannabis Control Act or section 410 of the Illinois Controlled Substances Act; and (4) judgments terminating or revoking a sentence to probation, supervision or conditional discharge and any resentencing after such revocation. (d) Fingerprints after Sentencing. (1) After the court pronounces sentence, including an order of supervision or an order of probation granted under either section 10 of the Cannabis Control Act or section 410 of the Illinois Controlled Substances Act, for any offense which is required by statute to be collected, maintained, or disseminated by the Department of Law Enforcement, the State's Attorney shall ask the court to order a law enforcement agency to fingerprint immediately all persons appearing before the court who have not previously been fingerprinted for the same case. The court shall so order the requested fingerprinting, if it determines that any so sentenced person has not previously been fingerprints to the Department daily.

(2) After the court pronounces sentence for any offense which is not required by statute to be collected, maintained, or disseminated by the Department of Law Enforcement, the prosecuting attorney may ask the court to order a law enforcement agency to fingerprint immediately all persons appearing before the court who have not previously been fingerprinted for the same case. The court may so order the requested fingerprinting, if it determines that any so sentenced person has not previously been fingerprinted for the same case. The law enforcement agency may retain such fingerprints in its files.

(e) Corrections Information. The Illinois Department of Corrections and the sheriff of each county shall furnish the Department with all information concerning the receipt, escape, execution, death, release, pardon, parole, commutation of sentence, granting of executive elemency, or discharge of an individual who has been sentenced to the agency's custody for any offenses which are mandated by statute to be collected; maintained or disseminated by the Department of Law Enforcement. For an individual who has been charged with any such offenses and who escapes from custody or dies while in custody, all information concerning the receipt and escape or death, whichever is appropriate, shall also be so furnished to the Department.

pr, House of Repres Speak tives Fres Stenate

### APPROVED

this 230 ty of September, 1983 A.D. GOVERNOR

